**RECEIVED**

**Mar 23 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger E. Henderson, Presiding Judge

---

Case No. 2021-CP-34-00150

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001791

---

RS&A Piping & Fabrication, Inc. a/k/a R. S. & A. Piping, Inc., ..... Appellant,

v.

Ronald D. Kirby, Dylan T. Kirby, Treasurer for Marlboro County and Danny T. Williams, ..... Respondents.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Leonard R. Jordan, Jr., #3221  
JORDAN LAW FIRM  
211 Veterans Road, Suite D  
Columbia, South Carolina 29209  
(803) 726-1950 Tel  
(803) 726-1951 Fax  
ljordan@ljordanlaw.com

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE TAX SALE WAS VOID BY VIRTUE OF THE COUNTY'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH S.C. CODE ANN. §12-51-120, THEREBY RENDERING THE STATUTES OF LIMITATION INAPPLICABLE.
- II. S.C. CODE ANN. §§12-51-160 AND 12-51-90 ARE INAPPLICABLE UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.
- III. THE LIMITATION PERIOD UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. §§12-51-160 AND 90 DOES NOT BEGIN TO RUN UNTIL THE PURCHASER IS PUT IN POSSESSION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.
- IV. TREASURER'S MOTION TO DISMISS SOUGHT ONLY THE DISMISSAL OF THIS CASE "AS TO TREASURER FOR MARLBORO COUNTY," AND THE ORDER OF DISMISSAL IMPROPERLY DISMISSED THE CASE IN ITS ENTIRETY.
- V. IT WAS IMPROPER TO DISMISS APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR CONVERSION, WHICH HAS NO DIRECT CONNECTION WITH THE TAX SALE OR WITH S.C. CODE ANN. §§12-51-160 AND 90, AND AS TREASURER FOR MARLBORO COUNTY HAD NO STANDING WHATSOEVER TO SEEK DISMISSAL OF THE CONVERSION CAUSE OF ACTION.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a tax sale conducted by the Treasurer for Marlboro County or the Delinquent Tax Collector for Marlboro County (hereinafter "Treasurer"), on November 5, 2018, at which the subject real property, owned by Appellant, R. S. & A. Piping, Inc., was sold.

Appellant's suit, the primary purpose of which was to overturn the tax sale under S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120 and to set aside the tax deed dated April 29, 2020, was filed on May 17, 2021. Respondents deny that the tax sale should be overturned.

Said statute reads as follows:

### **§12-51-120. Notice of approaching end of redemption period.**

Neither more than forty-five days nor less than twenty days before the end of the redemption period for real estate sold for taxes, the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes shall mail a notice by "certified mail, return receipt requested – restricted delivery" as provided in Section 12-51-40(b) to the defaulting taxpayer and to a grantee, mortgagee, or lessee of the property of record in the appropriate public records of the county. The notice must be mailed to the best address of the owner available to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes that the real property described on the notice has

been sold for taxes and if not redeemed by paying taxes, assessments, penalties, costs, and interest at the applicable rate on the bid price in the total amount of \_\_\_\_\_ dollars on or before \_\_\_\_\_ (twelve months from the date of sale) (date) \_\_\_\_\_, a tax title must be delivered to the successful purchaser at the tax sale. Pursuant to this chapter, the return of the certified mail “undelivered” is not grounds for a tax title to be withheld or to be found defective and ordered set aside or cancelled of record.

On June 15, 2021, Treasurer filed a Motion to Dismiss, wherein he sought “an order dismissing the above captioned matter as to Treasurer for Marlboro County.” The grounds for the Motion were: (1) that the Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector, rather than Treasurer for Marlboro County, was the proper party; and (2) that the statutes of limitation (set forth below) barred Appellant’s attempt to contest the tax sale.

Said statutes read as follows:

**§12-51-160. Deed as evidence of good title; statute of limitations.**

In all cases of tax sale the deed of conveyance, whether executed to a private person, a corporation, or a forfeited land commission, is prima facie evidence of a good title in the holder, that all proceedings have been regular and that all legal requirements have been complied with. An action for the recovery of land sold pursuant to this chapter or for the recovery of the possession must not be maintained unless brought within two years from the date of sale as provided in Section 12-51-90(C).

**§12-51-90. Redemption of real property; assignment of purchaser’s interest.**

(A) The defaulting taxpayer, any grantee from the owner, or any mortgage or judgment creditor may within twelve months from the date of the delinquent tax sale redeem each item of real estate by paying to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs, together with interest as provided in subsection (B) of this section. If prior to the expiration of the redemption period, the purchaser assigns his interest in any real property purchased at a delinquent tax sale, the grantee from the successful bidder shall furnish the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes a conveyance, witnessed and notarized. The person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes shall replace the successful bidder’s name and address with the grantee’s name and address in the delinquent tax sale book.

(B) The lump sum amount of interest due on the whole amount of the delinquent tax sale based on the month during the redemption period the property

is redeemed and that rate relates back to the beginning of the redemption period according to the following schedule:

Month of Redemption Period	Amount of Interest
Imposed Property Redeemed	
First three months	three percent of the bid amount
Months four, five, and six	six percent of the bid amount
Months seven, eight, and nine	nine percent of the bid amount
Last three months	twelve percent of the bid amount

However, in every redemption, the amount of interest due must not exceed the amount of the bid on the property submitted on behalf of the forfeited land commission pursuant to Section 12-51-55.

(C) If the defaulting taxpayer, grantee from the owner, or mortgage or judgment creditor fails to redeem the item of real estate sold at the delinquent tax sale within the twelve months provided in subsection (A) and after the passing of an additional twelve months, the tax deed issued is incontestable on procedural or other grounds.

At the hearing on said Motion, which was held before Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Presiding Judge, on August 31, 2021, both sides discussed an unpublished decision, to wit: *Leake v. Ethridge*, which case involved the County's failure to comply with S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120 and the applicability of S.C. Code Ann. §§12-51-160 and 12-51-90.

The *Leake* case was identified, and a copy thereof was offered to Judge Henderson, by counsel for Kirbys and Williams. (R.pp. \_\_\_\_ ) (1Tr. p. 12)

Said Respondents' counsel described the *Leake* case as "exactly on point" and "most certainly on point," agreeing with Appellant's counsel in that regard. (R.pp. \_\_\_\_ ) (1Tr.pp. 9 and 12) Said Respondents' counsel actually stated that the *Leake* case "shows how the appellate courts would look at that analysis" (i.e. "whether the 25 (sic) to 45 day time period is jurisdictional"). (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) (1Tr.p. 13)

Said Respondent's counsel also stated that *Leake* "shows how the appellate courts would look at . . . whether the statute of limitations applies first." (R.pp. \_\_\_\_ ) (1Tr.pp. 12-13)

Judge Henderson requested and received a copy of the *Leake* case. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) (1 Tr.p. 14) Following the motion hearing, Judge Henderson issued an Order of Dismissal, which was filed on November 4, 2021. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

Appellant served Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider and Plaintiff's Memorandum (In Support of Motion to Reconsider Order of Dismissal), which were filed on November 12, 2021. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) A complete copy of *Leake v. Etheridge* was attached to Plaintiff's Memorandum. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

The *Leake* case was also discussed at length at the second motion hearing. (R.pp. \_\_\_\_ ) (2Tr.pp. 8-9, 22-24, 27-28) Judge Henderson issued an Order Denying Motion to Reconsider, which was filed on November 21, 2022. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

On December 19, 2022, Appellant served its Notice of Appeal, which was filed on December 19, 2022. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

On December 20, 2022, Judge Henderson issued and filed an Order to Substitute Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector in Place of Treasurer for Marlboro County. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An action to set aside a tax deed is in equity. *S.C. Fed. Sav. Bank v. Atl. Land Title Co., Inc.*, 314 S.C. 292, 294, 442 S.E.2d 630, 631 (Ct.App. 1994). Therefore, this Court may take its own view of the preponderance of evidence. *Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775-76 (1976).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The subject real property (assigned Marlboro County Tax Map No. 003-01-01-062) was, at all relevant times prior to the recording of the Tax Deed, owned of record by Appellant, which

acquired title from Tommy Leviner by deed dated February 23, 1998, and recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Marlboro County on February 23, 1998, in Book 373 at page 240. (R.p. \_\_)

The real property taxes on said property were not paid for tax year 2017, and Treasurer levied on the property on June 5, 2018, by mailing a notice to Appellant, which notice was returned as undelivered. The property was posted on October 5, 2018. When the taxes remained unpaid, Treasurer scheduled a tax sale of the property on November 5, 2018, and advertised the tax sale. The tax sale resulted in the purchase of the property by Jerry Lewis with a high bid of \$3,800.00.

Treasurer purportedly attempted to notify Appellant of the right of redemption by a notice dated August 27, 2019.<sup>1</sup> (R.p. \_\_\_\_). This notice was purportedly mailed to Appellant on September 19, 2019, as stated in the Tax Deed (R.p. \_\_\_\_.) and as reflected on the Certified Mail Receipt in Treasurer’s tax sale file. (R.p. \_\_\_\_). The actual date of mailing of said notice was not specifically denied in any responsive pleading, and it was confirmed by Treasurer’s counsel at both motion hearings. (R.pp. \_\_\_\_.) (1Tr.p. 14 and 2Tr.p. 14)

For convenience, a calendar reflecting the time frame involved is set forth below. The actual date is designated in the top right corner of each box (day), and each day before the end of the redemption period, counting backward, is highlighted in each box.

**September 2019**

Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat
				19 Notice Mailed {47, 48}	20 {46, 47}	21 {45, 46}
22 {44, 45}	23 {43, 44}	24 {42, 43}	25 {41, 42}	26 {40, 41}	27 {39, 40}	28 {38, 39}
29 {37, 38}	30 {36, 37}					

<sup>1</sup> This notice was purportedly issued by Treasurer pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120.

**October 2019**

Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat
		1	2	3	4	5
		(35, 36)	(34, 35)	(33, 34)	(32, 33)	(31, 32)
6	7	8	9	10	11	12
(30, 31)	(29, 30)	(28, 29)	(27, 28)	(26, 27)	(25, 26)	(24, 25)
13	14	15	16	17	18	19
(23, 24)	(22, 23)	(21, 22)	(20, 21)	(19, 20)	(18, 19)	(17, 18)
20	21	22	23	24	25	26
(16, 17)	(15, 16)	(14, 15)	(13, 14)	(12, 13)	(11, 12)	(10, 11)
27	28	29	30	31		
(9, 10)	(8, 9)	(7, 8)	(6, 7)	(5, 6)		

**November 2019**

Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat
					1	2
					(4, 5)	(3, 4)
3	4	Last 5 day to redeem <sup>2</sup>	Last 6 day to redeem <sup>2</sup>			
(2, 3)	(1, 2)	(1)				

The property was not redeemed from the tax sale. Jerry Lewis assigned his bid to Backwoods, LLC, and Treasurer issued to Backwoods, LLC a Tax Deed to the property, which deed was dated April 29, 2020, and was recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Marlboro County on May 13, 2020, in Book 733 at page 53. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_)

<sup>2</sup> Per the end of redemption notice to Appellant from Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Office dated August 27, 2019, mailed on September 19, 2019, the final date to redeem is on or before November 6, 2019. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_) Since this notice alters the actual deadline (November 5, 2019), the number of the days “before the end of the redemption period” can differ by one day. For that reason, the count starts on November 4 and on November 5 and runs back to the date the notice was mailed (September 19, 2019), resulting in the end of redemption notice being mailed either 47 or 48 days before the end of redemption period.

Backwoods, LLC subsequently conveyed the property to Danny T. Williams (hereinafter “Williams”) by Quit Claim Deed dated June 1, 2020, and recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Marlboro County on June 4, 2020, in Book 733 at page 233. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) Thereafter, Williams conveyed the property to Respondents, Ronald D. Kirby and Dylan T. Kirby (hereinafter collectively “Kirbys”), by Quit Claim Deed dated February 15, 2021, and recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Marlboro County on February 24, 2021, in Book 747 at page 137. (R.p. \_\_)

As asserted by Appellant in its Complaint, Williams took possession of the property in or about June 2020; Williams began removing and/or disposing of Appellant’s personal property; Kirbys took possession of the property in or about February 2021; and Kirbys continued removing and/or disposing of Appellant’s personal property.

Appellant further asserted in the Second Cause of Action (Conversion) of its Complaint that Williams and Kirbys converted Appellant’s personal property to their own uses and benefit and that such conversion involved, at least, the following list of personal property owned by Appellant, to wit:

- 2- miller welding machines - \$2,000.00 each
- 1 – Lincoln mig welder - \$2,000.00
- 2 48” industrial fans - \$300.00/each
- 1 10” vice - \$1,800.00
- 1 – hog head for pipe machine - \$800.00
- and shaft drive - \$300.00
- 1 – victrailic groover - \$1,500.00
- 1 – steel table - \$500.00
- 1 – air compressor - \$1,500.00
- 1 – Dewalt drill - \$150.00
- 1 – game box on wheels - \$400.00
- 1 – tripod - \$200.00
- 2 – pipe jack stands - \$75.00/each
- 1 – Dewalt electric drill - \$50.00
- 1 – air hose reel - \$150.00
- 1,000 ft. lead (welding) - \$3,000.00
- Bolt bin - \$1,200.00 – 1,500.00
- Conveyor belt drive motor - \$400.00

Hammer drill - \$150.00  
 1 – mobile job trailer with shelves (18 wheeler trailer) \$6,500.00  
 1 large job box - \$500.00  
 1 – 535 pipe machine - \$800.00  
 2 – 4” gas valves (Honeywell) - \$450.00/each  
 1 – oxy acetylene torch- \$300.00  
 1 – 3 ton chain full - \$300.00  
 1 – 1 ton chain full - \$225.00  
 1 – man bracket - \$500.00  
 100 ft. ¾” stainless steel all-thread - \$600.00  
 2 – industrial spray guns - \$500.00/each  
 2 – 4” gas valves - \$400.00/each  
 All types/sizes of galvanized, stainless steel valves, strainers, clamps, tees, unims, complings, phalanges, bolts, nuts, of which the following are estimates:  
 (15) 1” ss/sv – 90 - \$31.00/each  
 (10) 1” ss/sv – 45 - \$28.00/each  
 (15) 1” ss/se – flg. - \$45.00/each  
 (8) 1” ss/sv – tee - \$42.00/each  
 (6) 1” ss/sv – unims. - \$28.00/each Business records - \$5,000.00  
 Personal and household items (pots, pans, dishes, glasses, towels, sheets, Christmas decorations, party supplies, lights, lamps, etc.) - \$1,000.00

Appellant further asserted in its Complaint that the conversion by Williams and Kirbys was willful, wanton and in conscious disregard of Appellant’s rights in its personal property and that Williams and Kirbys had an obvious and direct financial interest in the conversion.

### ARGUMENTS

- I. The notice requirement of S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120 is jurisdictional, and the failure to give the required notice is a fundamental defect.
- II. The statutes of limitation did not preclude Appellant’s claims, as the failure to give proper notice rendered the tax sale void.
- III. The statutes of limitation did not intend to bar the taxpayer’s right to contest the tax sale until he had two years to bring an action after there was a person on the land withholding possession from him.
- IV. It was improper to dismiss Appellant’s suit based upon Treasurer’s Motion to Dismiss, when the Motion only requested “an order dismissing the above captioned matter as to Treasurer for Marlboro County” and when Treasurer had no standing to contest Appellant’s cause of action for conversion.

**I. THE NOTICE REQUIREMENT OF S.C. CODE ANN. §12-51-120 IS JURISDICTIONAL, AND THE FAILURE TO GIVE THE REQUIRED NOTICE IS A FUNDAMENTAL DEFECT.**

As discussed in the following cases, the requirement that the taxpayer be properly notified of the end of the redemption period is generally regarded as jurisdictional, and the failure to give such notice, in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120, is a fundamental defect, which renders the proceedings absolutely void.

A. In *Good v. Kennedy*, 291 S.C. 202, 207, 352 S.E.2d 708, 711 (Ct. App. 1987), which also involved S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120, the Court, reversing the trial court, held that the Treasurer did not exercise diligence in notifying the owner of his right of redemption, finding as follows:

Numerous authorities have held that while statutory provisions which are intended merely for the convenience of taxing officers in the conduct of sales need not be strictly complied with, see, *Walker v. Harris*, 170 S.C. 242, 170 S.E. 270 (1993), the law is otherwise as to provisions intended for the protection of the taxpayer. (citations omitted)

Although we can locate no South Carolina case dealing with the point raised in this appeal, the general law is that where a statute requires as a condition precedent to foreclosing a taxpayer's rights in property sold for taxes that he be given notice of his right to redeem, such a requirement is "generally regarded as **jurisdictional**, and therefore, the owner's right of redemption cannot be cut off unless the required notice is given." (emphasis added)

. . . [T]he general law is that where a statute requires as a condition precedent to foreclosing a taxpayer's rights in property sold for taxes that he be given notice of his right to redeem, such a requirement is 'generally regarded as **jurisdictional**, and therefore, the owner's right of redemption cannot be cut off unless the required notice is given.' 72 Am. Jur. (2d) *State and Local Taxation 1010* (1974); accord C.J.S. *Taxation* Section 859 (1954). (emphasis added)

B. *Manji v. Blackwell*, 323 S.C. 91, 93-94, 473 S.E.2d 837, 838 (Ct. App. 1996), also involved S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120. In selling the property, the Treasurer mailed the final redemption notice to the owner by certified mail, but the notice was not sent restricted delivery. The

trial court declared the tax sale of the property **null and void** and set aside the resulting tax deed, “. . . because the delinquent Treasurer failed to properly notify [the owner] of the end of the redemption period pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120 (Supp. 1995).” (emphasis added) In affirming the trial court, the Court held:

Because notice to the landowner as required by the tax sale statutes is constructive rather than actual, the court requires strict compliance with these statutes.

The sound view is that all requirements of the law leading up to tax sales which are intended for the protection of the taxpayer against surprise or the sacrifice of his property are to be regarded mandatory, and are to be strictly enforced.

(“While statutory provisions which are intended merely for the convenience of taxing officers in the conduct of sales need not be strictly complied with, . . . the law is otherwise as to provisions intended for the protection of the taxpayer.”)

Where a statute requires as a condition precedent to foreclosing a taxpayer’s rights in property sold for taxes that he be given notice of his right to redeem, such a requirement is ‘generally regarded as **jurisdictional**, and therefore, the owner’s right of redemption cannot be cut off unless the required notice is given.’ (emphasis added)

C. In *Rives v. Bulsa*, 325 S.C. 287, 293, 478 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 1996), the Court concluded that the Treasurer failed to comply with the statutory requirements of the tax sale under §12-51-40(a) and (b) and that the deed was, therefore, **void**, finding that:

[T]he general law is that where a statute requires as a condition precedent to foreclosing a taxpayer’s rights in property sold for taxes that he be given notice of his right to redeem, such a requirement is generally regarded as **jurisdictional**, and therefore, the owner’s right of redemption cannot be cut off unless the required notice is given. (emphasis added)

Failure to give the required notice is a **fundamental defect** in the tax proceedings which renders the proceedings absolutely **void**. (emphasis added)

D. In *Smith v. Barr*, 375 S.C. 157, 164, 650 S.E.2d 486, 490 (Ct. App. 2007), the Court affirmed the trial court’s decision that the taxpayers met their burden to show that the county tax office failed to properly post on the property the notice mandated by §12-51-40, holding that, since

the property was not properly posted, the law mandated that the sale be set aside. The Court found that:

In South Carolina, ‘all requirements of the law leading up to tax sales which are intended for the protection of the taxpayer against surprise or the sacrifice of his property are to be regarded mandatory and are to be strictly enforced.’ (citation omitted)

[T]he failure to give the required statutory notice renders the tax sale **invalid**. (citation omitted) (emphasis added)

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