RECEIVED

Aug 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001791
Case No. 2021-CP-34-0150

RS&A Piping & Fabrication, Inc. a/k/a R. S. & A Piping, Inc.,..... Appellant,

v.

Ronald D. Kirby, Dylan T. Kirby, Treasurer for Marlboro County, and
Danny T. Williams,..... Respondents.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
TREASURER FOR MARLBORO COUNTY**

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

ANDREW F. MCLEOD #64130
MCLEOD & RUFFNER
Post Office Drawer 1449

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Appellant’s action to set aside the tax sale is time-barred by operation of Sections 12-51-160 and 12-51-90(C) of the South Carolina Code of Laws.

The Appellant RS&A Piping & Fabrication, Inc. brought this action to overturn a tax sale that occurred on November 18, 2018. This action, however, was not filed until May 17, 2021, which, as the Circuit Court correctly found, was more than two years after the date of the tax sale and is therefore time-barred pursuant to the provisions of Alternate Procedure for Collection of Property Taxes Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-40, *et seq.*

The Circuit Court based its ruling on two statutory provisions that must be read *in parimateria*: Section 12-51-160 and Section 12-51-90(C). Section 12-51-160 provides, in pertinent part: “An action for the recovery of land sold pursuant to this chapter or for the recovery of the possession must not be maintained unless brought within two years from the date of sale as provided in Section 12-51-90(C).” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-160. Section 12-51-90(C), which is directly referenced in Section 12-51-160, provides as follows: “If the defaulting taxpayer, grantee from the owner, or mortgage or judgment creditor fails to redeem the item of real estate sold at the delinquent tax sale within the twelve months provided in subsection (A) and after the passing of an additional twelve months, the tax deed issued is incontestable on procedural or other grounds.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90(C).

In its briefs, the Appellant relies on numerous cases that apply the statute of limitations set forth in Section 12-51-160 as it was written prior to the enactment of 2006 Act No. 238, which adopted Section 12-51-90(C) as a new provision and which significantly amended Section 12-51-160. The proper interpretation of the so-called “statute of limitations” in Section 12-51-

160 cannot be accurately discerned from the pre-2006 amendment case law. Yet, the Appellant includes no discussion of – nor even any mention of – the significant changes in the law resulting from the enactment of 2006 Act No. 238. Of course, none of the decisions of this Court that have been issued since the 2006 Act have analyzed the changes in Section 12-51-160 that were enacted in 2006.

Therefore, this appeal presents this Court with the opportunity to take a much-needed fresh look at timeliness restrictions applicable to an action to set aside a tax sale so as to give proper effect to the 2006 amendments, together with an infusion of some common sense and logic and perhaps even an equitable maxim or two, to allow for a proper and more current view of these cases. From the outset, the Appellant does not dispute that it did not file its action to set aside the tax sale within the two-year window beginning with the tax sale that occurred on November 18, 2018. Instead, the Appellant makes two arguments based on outdated case law: first, the limitations bar does not apply where there is a “jurisdictional defect” in the tax sale, and second, that the limitations bar begins to run when the defaulting taxpayer is ousted from possession. Both of those positions lack merit for the reasons discussed below.

As indicated, a proper legal analysis should start with consideration and analysis of changes resulting from the 2006 Act. The title to 2006 Act No. 238 states as follows:

AN ACT ... TO AMEND SECTION 12–51–90, AS AMENDED, RELATING TO REDEMPTION OF REAL PROPERTY FOLLOWING ITS SALE FOR DELINQUENT TAXES, SO AS TO PROVIDE THAT THE TAX DEED IS INCONTESTABLE TWELVE MONTHS AFTER ISSUE; TO AMEND SECTION 12–51–160, RELATING TO TAX DEEDS, SO AS TO CONFORM THE TIME AFTER WHICH THE DEED IS INCONTESTABLE TO THE TIME PROVIDED IN THE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 12–51–90 CONTAINED IN THIS ACT.

See, 2006 Act No. 238. The body of 2006 Act No. 238 then provides as follows:

Tax deeds, time after which incontestable

SECTION 3.

A. Section 12–51–90 of the 1976 Code, as last amended by Act 89 of 2001, is further amended by adding at the end:

<< SC ST § 12–51–90 >>

(C) If the defaulting taxpayer, grantee from the owner, or mortgage or judgment creditor fails to redeem the item of real estate sold at the delinquent tax sale within the twelve months provided in subsection (A) and after the passing of an additional twelve months, the tax deed issued is incontestable on procedural or other grounds.

B. Section 12–51–160 of the 1976 Code is amended to read:

<< SC ST § 12–51–160 >>

Section 12–51–160. In all cases of tax sale the deed of conveyance, whether executed to a private person, a corporation, or a forfeited land commission, is prima facie evidence of a good title in the holder, that all proceedings have been regular and that all legal requirements have been complied with. An action for the recovery of land sold pursuant to this chapter or for the recovery of the possession must not be maintained unless brought within two years from the date of sale as provided in Section 12–51–90(C).

See, 2006 Act No. 238, § 3. This demonstrates that Section 12-51-90(C) did not previously exist; that provision was adopted anew in 2006. Then, Section 12-51-160 was amended to specifically apply the incontestable provision adopted as part of Section 12-51-90(C).

The obvious intent of the General Assembly in enacting Section 3 of 2006 Act No. 238 is spelled out in the title to the Act: Section 3 was intended to make a tax sale “incontestable” two years after the date of the tax sale and one year after the redemption period ends. In *Whetstone v. South Carolina Department of Highways and Public Transportation*, 272 S.C. 324, 252 S.E.2d 35 (1979), the Supreme Court stated its interpretation of a statute was supported by the "underlying legislative history as exemplified by the original title of the pre-codified Act." 252 S.E.2d at 37. *See also*, *Kennedy v. South Carolina Retirement System*, 345 S.C. 339, 549 S.E.2d

243, 248 (2001) (where the Court looked at the title of an Act to glean legislative intent); *Demas v. Convention Motor Inns*, 268 S.C. 186, 232 S.E.2d 724, 726 (1977) (noting that it is proper to discern legislative intent from the title of an Act); *Duvall v. South Carolina Budget & Control Board*, 377 S.C. 36, 659 S.E.2d 125, 130 (2008) (same).

That intent is further made evident by reference to the General Assembly's adopted heading to Section 3 which states "Tax deeds, time after which incontestable." Inexplicably, the Code Commissioner did not amend the heading to Sections 12-51-160 and 12-51-90 as codified in the Code of Laws to include the heading that was actually adopted by the General Assembly. However, that is immaterial. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 2-13-175 ("The catch line heading or caption which immediately follows the section number of any section of the Code of Laws must not be deemed to be part of the section and must not be used to construe the section more broadly or narrowly than the text of the section would indicate. The catch line or caption is not part of the law and is merely inserted for purposes of convenience to the person using the Code"). The heading provided by the General Assembly demonstrates the legislative intent to make a tax sale "incontestable" after two years.

In effect, the provisions of 2006 Act No. 238 have made it clear that the limitations bar set forth in Sections 12-51-160 and 12-51-90 is actually a statute of repose rather than what is typically referred to as a statute of limitations. In 2005, this Court in *Corbin v. Carlin* 366 S.C. 187, 620 S.E.2d 745 (Ct. App. 2005), had already recognized that Section 12-51-160, prior to any amendment, "appears to operate as a statute of repose." 620 S.E.2d at 748, n.2. But this Court left that question unanswered explaining "[w]hether the statute is one of limitations or one of repose, however, is not a question we must address in order to decide the issues on appeal." *Id.* Thus, the legal question remained unresolved, that is, until the enactment of 2006 Act No.

238, when the General Assembly removed any uncertainty and specifically declared as public policy that a tax sale becomes “incontestable” two years after the date of the tax sale. That clearly made the provision a statute of repose.

The Supreme Court has explained the distinction between a statute of limitations and a statute of repose as follows: “A statute of limitations is a procedural device that operates as a defense to limit the remedy available from an existing cause of action. A statute of repose creates a substantive right in those protected to be free from liability after a legislatively-determined period of time.” *Langley v. Pierce*, 313 S.C. 401, 438 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1993). “[A] statute of repose is typically an absolute time limit beyond which liability no longer exists and is not tolled for any reason because to do so would upset the economic balance struck by the legislative body.” *Id.* Thus, a statute that makes a matter “incontestable” after a certain period of time is a statute of repose in that it sets the absolute time limit for bringing a particular cause of action.

It is apparent that the General Assembly was acting in response to the *Corbin* decision with the enactment of 2006 Act No. 238. In *Corbin, supra*, this Court opined that the pre-2006 version of Section 12-51-160 was intended by the legislature “to create a time limit during which one who lost title to property through a tax sale, *after proper notice*, may attempt to regain title.” 620 S.E.2d at 749. (Emphasis added). The General Assembly sought to correct the italicized language which judicially creates an exception to the two-year limitations period. The General Assembly clarified with the 2006 amendments that Section 12-51-160 and the newly adopted Section 12-51-90(C) make a tax sale “incontestable” two years after the date of the tax sale, regardless of whether there was “proper notice.” That is evident from the plain and ordinary meaning of the term “incontestable” which is defined as “not to be contested” and “indisputable”

and “unquestionable.” *See*, Webster’s New World College Dictionary, 4th Edition. That is further evident from the explicit language of Section 12-51-90(C) making “the tax deed issued ... incontestable *on procedural or other grounds.*” *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-90(C). (Emphasis added). “Other grounds” is an obvious reference to the “jurisdictional defect” language that was erroneously used years ago by the Supreme Court and has remained in the jurisprudence ever since.¹ It is well settled that the General Assembly’s subsequent amendment of a statute can be considered clarification of the legislative intent. *See*, *Buist v. Huggins*, 367 S.C. 268, 625 S.E.2d 636, 640 (2006) (noting that a subsequent statutory amendment may be interpreted as clarifying statutory intent); *Stuckey v. State Budget & Control Board*, 339 S.C. 397, 529 S.E.2d 706, 708 (2000) (“[a] subsequent statutory amendment may be interpreted as clarifying original legislative intent”). And that is precisely the purpose of Section 3 of 2006 Act No. 238 – to clarify that a tax sale cannot be contested on any basis after the passage of two years from the date of the tax sale. Hence, Sections 12-51-160 and 12-51-90(C) create a statute of repose.

This interpretation of Sections 12-51-160 and 12-51-90(C), as applied by the Circuit Court in this case, is also consistent with the recognized need for some finality and certainty, which is particularly important in real property transactions and ownership. There must be some finality. The Supreme Court recognized that need as far back as 1946, when the Court observed

¹ In recognition that the terms “jurisdictional” and “subject matter jurisdiction” have been misused and misapplied in many contexts over the years, the South Carolina appellate courts have clarified over the past decade that “[a] court’s subject matter jurisdiction is determined by whether it has the authority to hear the type of case in question.” *Baddourah v. McMaster*, 433 S.C. 89, 856 S.E.2d 561, 565 (2021). The use of the term “jurisdictional defect” in the context of a tax sale seems to be a misnomer. A tax sale does not require or even involve a court unless there is an action filed to set aside a tax sale or potentially an action to quiet title, and even when an action is filed, the statutory procedures followed for the tax sale have no impact on whether the court hearing such an action has jurisdiction or not. This presents an additional reason why a fresh look is needed at the existing case law.

the following in *Leysath v. Leysath*, 209 S.C. 342, 40 S.E.2d 233 (1948):

If the two year limitation does not apply to defects of the character now under consideration, what purpose does it serve? *If it only applies where the tax proceedings are regular in every respect, the purchaser would have no need of the protection which this limitation was designed to give. A statute of repose is not needed in favor of purchasers at valid tax sales.* The very purpose of such a statute is to shut off inquiry into such defects as are now complained of, and confirm the tax deed in spite of them, and unless it does this it is nugatory.

40 S.E.2d at 236-237. (Emphasis added).

This citation makes two invaluable points. First, as the italicized language points out, if the time-bar of Section 51-12-160 applies only to tax sales that are flawless and technically sound (i.e., no technical issues) – which is exactly what the Appellant argues in the present case – there is no need for a statute of limitations or a statute of repose or any other time-bar because there can be no liability. In that case, Section 51-12-160 is rendered legally meaningless and a nullity. Of course, such a construction flies in the face of the well-settled rule of statutory construction that “[t]he Court must presume the legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.” *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 208, 574 S.E.2d 196, 198 (2002).

Second, and perhaps most importantly, there would practically speaking be no time-bar for an action to set aside a tax sale. If there is a technicality that qualifies as a “jurisdictional defect” (whatever that means exactly), such as in this case where the Appellant claims the mailing of the redemption notice a mere two or three days *early* is a jurisdictional defect, then there would never be a time-bar for an action to set aside a tax sale. In other words, if the Appellant did not file its action on May 17, 2021, but rather waited until 2071 (fifty years later), there would still be no time-bar under the Appellant’s analysis. The subject property could have

been conveyed dozens of times in the intervening years, but the defaulting taxpayer would be within its right to bring an action to set aside tax sale in 2071 because there was a “jurisdictional defect” regardless of how minor, and as a result, the existing property owner would be ousted in favor of the defaulting taxpayer.

In sum, the law does not support such an absurd and frankly meaningless construction or application of Section 51-12-160; yet, that is precisely the argument that the Appellant is making and one the pre-2006 amendments case law admittedly seems to support at least to some extent. To reiterate, the Supreme Court recognized in *Leysath* that “[a] statute of repose is not needed in favor of purchasers at valid tax sales.” 40 S.E.2d at 236. Instead, a statute of repose is needed in cases where the tax sale is contestable. Hence, the General Assembly – in establishing the public policy as is its prerogative – amended Section 12-51-160 and adopted Section 12-51-90(C) precisely to adopt a statute of repose or, as the title to Act No. 238 states, “to provide that the tax deed is incontestable twelve months after issue.” That is precisely how Sections 12-51-160 and 12-51-90(C) should be interpreted and applied.² That is precisely how those statutes were interpreted and applied by the Circuit Court in dismissing the Appellant’s action to set aside the tax sale. That decision should be affirmed.

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